IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. SC03-1598 L.T. No.: 4D01-4892

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL
INSURANCE TRUST

Petitioner,

VS.

VILLAGE OF GOLF

PETITIONER, FMIT'S, INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL T. BURKE
Florida Bar No. 338771
TAMARA M. SCRUDDERS
Florida Bar No. 868426
JOHNSON, ANSELMO, MURDOCH,
BURKE & GEORGE, P.A.

Attorneys for Appellant, FMIT

790 East Broward Boulevard, Suite 400

Post Office Box 030220

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33303-0220

Facsimile: (954) 463-2444

Telephone: (954) 463-0100 Broward

(305) 945-2000 Dade (561) 748-7448 WPB

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Eric Ash, Esquire - Counsel for Respondent, Village of Golf

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Estoppel Theory Approved in *Doe v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 653 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1995), Can Be Applied to Conduct Arising Out of the Insurer's Investigation of a Claim Before the Claimant has Filed a Lawsuit.
- II. Whether an Insured Must Prove Actual Prejudice When Claiming Coverage By Estoppel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Statement of the Facts

Effective October 1, 1994, the Florida Municipal Insurance Trust (FMIT) issued a general liability policy of insurance to the Village of Golf (Village). R.1-2; T.1-171, Plaintiff's Exhibit 2. On October 11, 1994, a chlorine gas leak occurred at a water treatment plant owned by the Village. R.1-2; T.1-165. The Village immediately reported the accident to the FMIT and the FMIT hired a field adjuster named Greg Gibson to investigate the accident. T.3-239-242. The FMIT also began paying an attorney named George Roberts to assist with the investigation and represent the Village in matters relating to the incident. T.4-595-598. Field adjuster Gibson and Attorney Roberts met with employees of the Village Water Treatment Plant and met with employees of the owner of the chlorine tank (Jones Chemical), and conducted other investigation related to the accident. T.4-598-610.

By letter dated October 17, 1994, DuBois Growers, Inc., a nearby property owner, put the Village on notice of a potential claim for damages to its pepper crops as a result of the chlorine gas leak. R.1-2; T.1-183, Plaintiff's Exhibit 14. The Village immediately forwarded this written notice of claim to the FMIT who, in turn, requested field adjuster Gibson to look into the matter. Gibson contacted DuBois Growers representatives who advised that there was no visible damage to the pepper crops, and

that it was unknown whether the chlorine exposure would in the future harm the crop. T.3-332-333. DuBois Growers representatives informed Gibson that he would be notified in the event the pepper crops sustained any damage in the future. T.2-254-261 and T.2-319-324.

The Village subsequently received a number of relatively small claims for damages allegedly caused by the chlorine gas leak from persons and entities other than DuBois Growers. These claims for medical and veterinary expenses were gathered together by the Village and submitted to field adjuster Gibson. T.1-175-176. On December 4, 1994, Gibson sent these claims to the FMIT with a recommendation that the claims be paid even though liability appeared questionable. The FMIT subsequently paid \$10,575.20 to resolve the claims presented to the Village as a result of the chlorine gas leak other than DuBois Growers' claim. T.2-251-254.

In late January or early February 1995, field adjuster Gibson was notified by DuBois Growers representatives that problems were now being observed with the pepper plants and Gibson went to the farm to meet with DuBois Growers representatives and photograph the crops. T.2-261-262; T.3-341. DuBois Growers representatives explained that some of the pepper plants had a stunted appearance, but it was unknown whether the crop yield would be effected and, if so, by how much. T.3-338-349.

In August 1995, DuBois Growers' attorney sent a letter to Gibson which claimed that the chlorine gas leak had caused \$1,600,000.00 in property damage to the pepper crop. T.3-293-297. In November 1995, DuBois Growers then filed a lawsuit for damages against the Village, Jones Chemical and others allegedly responsible for the chlorine gas leak. R.1-3; T.3-299, Plaintiff's Exhibit 67. Upon receipt of the Complaint, the Village immediately forwarded the suit papers to the FMIT, and on November 14, 1995, the FMIT notified the Village that the DuBois Growers' Complaint was not covered by the policy of insurance and that the FMIT would not defend or indemnify the Village with respect to the lawsuit. R.1-3; T.3-412, Plaintiff's Exhibit 77. Specifically, the FMIT notified the Village that no coverage existed for the property damages sought by DuBois Growers pursuant to Exclusion G. of the policy which in pertinent part excludes coverage for:

G. [] any claim for . . . property damage . . . caused by, contributed to or arising out of the actual or threatened discharge, dispersal, release, or escape of smoke, vapors, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, toxic chemicals, liquids or gases, waste materials or other irritants, pollutants or contaminants into or upon the land, the atmosphere . . . whether above or below ground.

It is understood and agreed that the intent and effect of this exclusion is to delete from all coverages afforded by this policy any claim, suit, action, judgment, liability, settlement,

defense or expenses . . . arising out of such actual or threatened discharge, dispersal, release or escape . . . R.1-15.

The FMIT advised the Village that it would continue to pay attorney George Roberts to represent the Village through the end of 1995 or if the Village preferred, it could immediately retain counsel of its own choosing. T.3-412-419. The Village elected to continue to have Attorney Roberts represent it through the end of 1995 and thereafter, retained the services of Attorney Phillip Gildan and ultimately, the firm of Lewis, Longman & Walker to represent it is in the lawsuit brought by DuBois Growers, Inc. T.4-536-545.

Discovery in the lawsuit established that the pepper plants did not exhibit any signs of visible damage in the days immediately following the chlorine gas leak. Representatives of DuBois growers had taken dozens of photographs and a videotape of their crops in the days following the incident which showed no damage to the crops. T.4-545-546, 660-665, Defendant's Exhibits 16, 17, and 18. Additionally, testimony from a Florida agricultural agent who had visited the farm shortly after the incident, and the testimony of independent scouts hired by the grower to periodically check the

plant material, also established that there was no visible damage to the crops in the days following the chlorine gas leak.

T.4-695, Defendant's Exhibit 13, p.44-45.

The Village consulted with numerous experts in plant pathology who advised the Village that the DuBois Growers' claim of delayed damage to the plant material was inconsistent with scientific literature and how chlorine gas effects plants. The experts consulted by the Village, including unpaid experts from the University of Florida, advised that where chlorine gas is sufficiently toxic to damage plant material, the exposure causes visible damage and burning to the plant's leaves within a matter of hours or days following the exposure. In essence, based on the undisputed photographic evidence and deposition testimony, the Village's experts opined that there was no chlorine injury to the DuBois Growers pepper plants. T.4-542-544 and T.3-432-447.

On November 19, 1997, after two years of litigation, the governing Board of the Village met in executive session to discuss with its attorneys the status of the DuBois Growers' litigation. The attorney for the Village summarized the evidence developed during two years of discovery and notified the Village that the case was very defensible because

the evidence established that there had not been any chlorine injury to the pepper plants. In pertinent part, counsel for the Village summarized the defense ability of the case as follows:

Their (DuBois Growers) claim is going to be one based on a lack of any evidence and a lack of any scientific supporting theory. In other words, there is no support for the theory that chlorine gas creates a chronic injury, in other words, a long-term, residual, lasting injury. (13/7 to 13/12)

[E]very expert we've spoken to says that, when you see a significant chlorine injury, you're going to see something that looks like a bomb site. . . . you're going to see an area where the injury is concentrated and then dissipating out as the chlorine dissipates. (6/2 to 6/8)

We have found experts who are, who will be unpaid experts from the University of Florida who will come in and say, and Florida Atlantic University, who will come in and say they don't see anything in the photos, it doesn't make any sense based on the testimony, and they do not believe that there was any chlorine injury to these plants. (39/16 to 39/23).

That person [DuBois' expert] is going to have some real credibility problems for several reasons. Number one, he's got no photographs of the actual plants in their, quote, injured state. Two, he's go not samples of soil, plant tissue, air, water, anything related to the incident from which he could base his opinion. (20/7 to 20/13)

[A]ll of the photos we've seen to date, they further emphasize that there was not any recognizable damage. (5/25 to 6/2)

And I'll go into the concept that this case is a good case for the defense. It's basically, I'd say, that the Plaintiff's claim lacks credibility. It's a chlorine incident. All the literature that we have indicates and the experts that we've gong to indicate that a chlorine injury should demonstrate immediate, substantial and very obvious harm. We do not have that here, and the Plaintiff admits that does not exist here. What he claims is an injury several weeks later that was unanticipated and that he had no answer for. That injury is not, the injury he's claiming is not consistent with the normal chlorine damage, nor is it consistent with the scientific literature on how chlorine should act on plants. (4/23 to 5/14)

I think that - I don't think they can prove their case. I think that ultimately nine out of ten juries are going to find in your favor, under the facts as we know them today, okay? (48/7 to 49/2)

[T]he facts that have developed so far evidence that it's a good case for your defense. (3/14)

And, Mr. Botos, I think its possible you will get a zero judgment in this case. (74/11 to 74/12)

T.4-695, Defendant's Exhibit 13.1

On March 4, 1999, after an additional one and half years of litigation, the governing Board of the Village again met in executive session to discuss with its attorneys the status of the DuBois Growers' lawsuit. Again, the attorneys

References are to the page and line number of the transcript of Executive Session.

for the Village advised that the case was very defensible based on the absence of credible evidence to show that the chlorine gas leak had damaged or caused injury to the pepper plants. T.4-695, Defendant's Exhibit 14.

Ultimately, the Village elected to settle the lawsuit by paying DuBois Growers the sum of \$237,500.00. In settling the lawsuit, the Village took into account that despite the fact that the case was very defensible, significant costs would be incurred in a trial of the action. T.4-571-572. The Village paid a total of \$340,839.60 in attorneys' fees and litigation costs in defending the DuBois Growers lawsuit, or a total of \$578,339.60 to resolve the action. T.4-529-530.

B. Statement of the Case

This action was commenced in October 1999 when the Village filed a four-count Complaint for damages against the FMIT. (App. C) Count I sought relief for breach of contract and asserted that the FMIT had breached the insurance contract by refusing to defend the DuBois Growers' lawsuit and by refusing to indemnify the Village for the damages sought. Count II purported to be an action for breach of duty to defend. Essentially, the Village asserted that the FMIT was not permitted to deny coverage based on an exclusion because it failed to issue a written reservation of rights within the time period established by Florida Statutes §627.426(2)(a). As a result, the Village asserted that the

FMIT was liable for the costs incurred by the Village in defending and settling the DuBois Growers' lawsuit. Count III asserted that the FMIT was estopped to deny coverage based on the FMIT's alleged failure to properly investigate the claim and preserve evidence during the thirteen month period of time between the assertion of the claim and FMIT's denial of coverage. Essentially, the Village asserted that the FMIT should have retained an expert to inspect the pepper plants while they were still in the ground and preserve plant material for later analysis. Finally, Count IV set forth a claim for negligence and alleged that the FMIT had failed to exercise reasonable case in the investigation of the DuBois Growers' claim. R1-1-26.

Jury trial of the action commenced on May 14, 2001. Dr. Timothy Shubert, the primary expert hired by the Village in its defense of the DuBois lawsuit, testified at trial that when a crop is exposed to a potentially harmful substance such as chlorine gas, he likes to personally visually inspect the plants to determine whether the exposure has caused damage or injury to the plant material. In the case of the DuBois Growers exposure, Dr. Schubert testified that he was unable to do so because the plant material had been disposed of by the farmer long before he was contacted concerning the case. However, Dr. Schubert testified that the available photographic evidence and testimony of the

farmer and other persons who did see the plants in the days following the chlorine gas leak enabled him to determine within a reasonable degree of scientific probability that the chlorine gas leak did <u>not</u> damage the DuBois Growers' pepper crop. Indeed, Dr. Schubert testified that there was <u>no</u> evidence to show chlorine injury to the plants. T.3-419-456.

Attorney Greg Anderson who represented the Village's co-defendant, Jones Chemical, in the DuBois lawsuit, also testified. Consistent with the evaluation provided to the Village by its attorneys at the executive sessions, attorney Anderson testified that the DuBois Growers' lawsuit was very defensible because there was no substantial evidence to show that the chlorine gas leak had not caused damage or injury to the pepper plants. Like the Village, concern about the cost of a prolonged trial and the uncertainty that always exists when a case is presented to a jury, Jones Chemical elected to settle the DuBois Growers' claim. T.4-651-670.

During the trial FMIT also placed into evidence transcripts of the November 17, 1997 and March 4, 1999 executive sessions of the Village's governing body, which documented the Village's own attorney describing the absolute lack of evidence to support the DuBois lawsuit, as well as the numerous photographs of the pepper plants and

crops which were taken by DuBois Growers in the days following the chlorine gas leak which showed no evidence of damage. T.4-663 and T.5-746.

At the close of the Village's case, the trial court directed a verdict in favor of FMIT with respect to the negligence claim asserted in Count IV of the Complaint. T.4-577-595. Counts I, II and III went to the jury. Over FMIT's objection, the trial court instructed the jury that FMIT was required to comply with Florida Statutes §627.426(2)(a), which provides:

A liability insurer shall not be permitted to deny coverage based on a particular coverage defense unless within thirty days after the liability insurer knew or should have known of the coverage defense, written notice of reservation of rights to assert a coverage defense is given...

The jury returned a verdict which found that the FMIT did <u>not</u> have a duty under its contract of insurance to provide coverage to the Village of Golf for the claim for damages brought by the DuBois Growers. (App. D) The jury did, however, find that the FMIT failed to timely raise its right to deny coverage, that it was estopped from denying coverage, and that the Village was damaged by the FMIT's actions in the amount of \$436,651.69. R.3-369-370.

The trial court entered a final judgment in favor of the Village. R.3-482. In December 2001, the trial court granted the Village's Motion to Amend to include pre-judgment interest, and entered an Amended Final Judgment in the amount of \$574.565.77. R.4-590-594 and R.4-595-596. (App. E) The trial court also entered a judgment which awarded the Village \$368,448.10 in attorney's fees and costs for prosecuting the action against FMIT. (App. F) Thus, for a claim that was not covered by the Village insurance policy, a claim that was admittedly defensible, and was settled by the Village, the FMIT was required to pay a total of \$943,013.87.00. FMIT appealed the Amended Final Judgment to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. FMIT argued (among other things) that the jury had been erroneously instructed that FMIT was precluded from denying coverage if it failed to timely issue a reservation of rights in accordance with §627.426(2)(a), Florida Statutes. FMIT argued that §627.426(2)(a) does not apply in instances where coverage is excluded under the policy. FMIT also argued that it could not be estopped from denying coverage based on its pre-suit investigation of the DuBois claim, and that in any event, the Village had not demonstrated that it was prejudiced by the FMIT's pre-suit investigation or involvement. The Village did not cross appeal the trial court's dismissal of its negligence claim.

On April 9, 2003, the Fourth District issued its decision which reversed the Amended Final Judgment, finding that the jury had been erroneously instructed that FMIT was precluded from denying coverage if it failed to timely comply with the requirements of §627.426(2)(a). Fla. Municipal Ins. Trust v. Village of Golf, 850 So.2d 544 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003)(Judge Farmer dissenting). (App. "B") The majority did, however, affirm the trial court's determination that FMIT could be estopped from denying coverage for a clearly excluded claim based on its conduct during a pre-suit investigation. The majority also found that the coverage can be created by estoppel for an expressly excluded claim when an adequate pre-suit investigation "could have" put the Village in a stronger position to defend the DuBois lawsuit. The court remanded for a new trial on Count III only.

In a written dissent, Judge Farmer disagreed with the majority's finding that coverage can be created by estoppel based on an insurer's pre-suit investigation. Judge Farmer wrote that he would find as a matter of law that there could be no coverage by estoppel under the circumstances presented.

FMIT filed a Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc, and a Motion for Certification. On August 6, 2003, the Fourth District Court of Appeal denied rehearing, but certified the following question as one of great public importance:

CAN THE ESTOPPEL THEORY APPROVED IN *DOE v. ALLSTATE INSURANCE CO.*, 653 So.2D 371 (Fla. 1995), BE APPLIED TO CONDUCT ARISING OUT OF THE INSURER'S INVESTIGATION OF A CLAIM BEFORE THE CLAIMANT HAS FILED A LAWSUIT?

FMIT timely filed a notice invoking the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The general rule in Florida is that estoppel <u>cannot</u> be invoked to create or extend insurance coverage. Only two (2) very narrow exceptions to that rule have been recognized. One exception (the "<u>Crown Life</u>" exception) applies when an insured has been misled in the initial procurement of insurance, in order to prevent a fraud or similar injustice. The other (the "<u>Doe</u>" exception) applies when an insurer assumes the defense of an insured and the insured is prejudiced by that defense. In these <u>limited</u> instances, and <u>only</u> in these instances, it has been held that an insurer may be estopped from denying coverage even though none exists. However, neither the <u>Crown Life</u> or the <u>Doe</u> exception allows for the creation of coverage by estoppel based on an insurer's mere <u>pre-suit investigation</u>.

This Court should decline the Fourth District's invitation to extend the <u>Doe</u> exception to create coverage by estoppel in instances of alleged inadequate pre-suit investigation, and answer the certified question in the negative. An extension of the <u>Doe</u> exception to pre-suit investigatory conduct would open the door to routine claims for coverage by estoppel, subjecting insurers to lawsuits for expressly excluded claims in the mere ordinary, rather than the extraordinary situation. What was intended to be a narrow exception would entirely supplant the general rule prohibiting

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