IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO.: SC03-1598 L.T. NO.: 4D01-4892

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL INSURANCE TRUST

Petitioner,

vs.

VILLAGE OF GOLF

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, VILLAGE OF GOLF

/

KENNETH G. SPILLIAS Florida Bar No. 253480 KEVIN S. HENNESSY Florida Bar No. 0602558 ERIC ASH Florida Bar No. 0976891 Lewis, Longman & Walker, P.A. 1700 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 1000 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 640-0820 Counsel for Respondent, Village of Golf

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Appellee certifies that the following persons and/or entities have or might have an interest in the outcome of this appeal.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Despite the certified question presented by the Fourth District Court Appeal and the arguments presented by the Defendant, the decision below does not present a departure from established principles of law or a question of great public importance which needs to be addressed by this Court. In both <u>Cigarette Racing</u> <u>Team, Inc. v. Parliament Insurance Company</u>, 395 So. 2d 1238 (Fla.4th DCA 1981, and <u>Doe v. Allstate Insurance Co.</u>, 653 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1995, the Fourth District Court of Appeal and this Court described the responsibilities of an insurer in defending a claim against its insured. Both courts made clear that an important element of the insurer's duties was the performance of the investigation prior to the commencement of a lawsuit. Both courts also recognized that the insurer's undertaking of those responsibilities, particularly when coupled with the improper handling of its duties, the lack of notice to the insured of a potential lack of coverage and the insured's reliance to its detriment on the insurer's improper and prejudicial conduct, can give rise to coverage by estoppel. In the decision below, the Fourth District did nothing more than apply these previously decided principles to the facts of the case presented here. As such, there exists no need for this Court to exercise jurisdiction to further consider the decision below.

II. FMIT is incorrect when it argues that in <u>Doe</u> this Court limited the application of the doctrine of estoppel to only those cases where the insurer's grievous conduct occurred only after a lawsuit had been filed against its insured. Not only did this Court *not* announce any such arbitrary rule, but neither the established principles of the doctrine of estoppel nor logic would support such a rule.

The elements of estoppel are clear: 1) a representation of a material fact that is contrary to a later-asserted position; 2) reliance on that representation; and 3) a detrimental change in the position of the party claiming estoppel caused by the representation and reliance on it. If, in the context of a legal or contractual relationship

16

between parties, harm is caused to one party by conduct of the other which establishes the elements necessary to demonstrate an estoppel, a claim is established. In the present case, FMIT and VOG had such a legal and contractual relationship (insurer and insured) and facts presented to the jury were sufficient to establish the elements of estoppel. In those circumstances, the fact that all of the egregious and prejudicial conduct engaged in by FMIT occurred in the thirteen months prior to the filing the lawsuit (expect the act of withdrawal of representation which occurred after the filing of the lawsuit) does not change the fact that all of the elements of estoppel have been met. To hold that none of the insurer's conduct prior to the filing of the lawsuit somehow "doesn't count" would be to create an artificial defense to that wrongful conduct. There are no authorities to support such an artificial defense. There is no logic to support such an artificial defense. And further, the creation of such an artificial construct would undoubtedly encourage slip-shod investigations (such as occurred here) harmful to insureds who would then have no recourse against their insurers.

Here, the evidence presented to the jury established a woefully inadequate investigation contrary to FMIT's own policies and procedures and its own representative's recommendations, which ultimately placed VOG in the position of having to defend a significantly stronger case than it would have had to defend if FMIT's conduct had not been so blatantly improper. That being the case, the principles of <u>Cigarette Racing Team</u> and <u>Doe</u> were properly applied at both the trial and the District Court levels and those decisions should be affirmed.

III. Contrary to FMIT's argument, the decision below does not expand the

doctrine of estoppel with regard to the element of prejudice. Prejudice is an issue of fact which depends on a review of the circumstances of each individual case. Here, the evidence presented to the jury demonstrated prejudice to VOG by FMIT's conduct in VOG's need to expend large sums of money to defend itself against a claim in excess of \$1,600,000 and ultimately resolve the case at the cost of hundreds of thousands of dollars. It is not the jury's verdict or the evidence presented to the jury which is a departure from well-established principles of law. Rather, it is FMIT's effort to have this Court quantify the required element of prejudice in the manner presented which would be a deviation from prior precedent. In essence, in the guise of seeking a pronouncement of law from this Court, FMIT truly seeks to have this Court set aside a jury verdict that was based on substantial competent evidence and preclude a new jury on re-trial from considering the same evidence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

With respect to issue number I, the standard of review for the Supreme Court is complete discretion concerning whether it chooses to accept the certified question for review. See Zirin v. Charles Pfizer & Co., 128 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1961). Once having chosen to review a certified question, the whole decision is open for review. On review the Supreme Court may review the entire decision and record. See <u>Rupp v. Jackson</u>, 238 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1970).

As to issues II and III, the standard for review for the legal issues presented would be the same as that of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which would require that the Supreme Court determine that the evidence, looking at the entire record in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff's position, is insufficient to establish a prima facie showing of the claims alleged. See <u>Nunezv. Lee County</u>, 777 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); and <u>Sixty-Six, Inc. v. Finely</u>, 224 So.2d 381, 382 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

18

<u>ISSUE I</u>

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE FACTS OF THIS CASE ESTABLISH ESTOPPEL WITHIN WELL-DEFINED PRINCIPLES OF LAW BY WHICH INSUREDS AND INSURERS ALIKE HAVE BEEN GOVERNING THEIR CONDUCT FOR AT LEAST 20 YEARS AND WHICH NEED NO FURTHER EXPLICATION BY THIS COURT.

Contrary to the arguments put forth by FMIT and, with due respect, to the question certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the decision below does not present a question of great public importance which requires further consideration by this Court. Rather, the majority decision below applies well-established principles of estoppel to the facts of this case, not only in compliance with the legal principles announced in previous cases of the Fourth District and of this Court, but consistent with similar factual scenarios in the cases applying those principles.

FMIT argues that the issue of whether a pre-suit investigation by an insurer can constitute a part of the insurer's defense of the insured is a matter of first impression. This, however, is simply not the case. In <u>Cigarette Racing Team, Inc. v. Parliament</u> <u>Insurance Co.</u>, *supra*, the Fourth District Court of Appeal applied the principle at issue here, coverage by estoppel, to reverse a summary judgment. The facts of that case demonstrated that the incident occurred on September 15, 1976; the insurer notified the insured shortly thereafter; insurer notified the insured that it would investigate the incident; suit was filed in July 1977; and on January 3, 1978 the insurer notified the insured that it was withdrawing its defense on the grounds of no coverage. In holding that that case fell squarely within the exception to the general rule that coverage could not be created by estoppel, the Fourth District noted as follows (*id.* at 1240):

Parliament Insurance Company assumed the defense of its insured, Cigarette, without a reservation of rights or notice to Cigarette of possible non-coverage. *Some sixteen months after it had assumed responsibility of Cigarette's defense*, Parliament notified its insured that the policy did not provide coverage and therefore it would no longer defend the action. [Emphasis supplied]

In holding that evidence had been presented to support the claim of estoppel, the court in <u>Cigarette</u> unequivocally included the time prior to filing the complaint, during which the insurer took control of the case and investigated it, as being within the scope of the insurer's defense of the insured.

Similarly, in <u>Doe v. Allstate Insurance Co</u>, *supra*, this Court, in approving of the holding in <u>Cigarette Racing Team</u>, also described the nature of an insurer's obligation to defend as including pre-suit as well as post-suit conduct. In <u>Doe</u> this Court described the undertaking of a defense as follows (*id.*, 374-375):

In fulfilling its promissory obligation to defend, the insurer employs counsel for the insured, *performs the pretrial investigation*, and controls the insured's defense after a suit is filed on a claim.

* * *

Thus, when the insurer undertakes the defense of a claim on behalf of one claiming to be an insured, we have recognized substantial duties on the part of both the insurer and the insured. If an insurer erroneously begins to carry out these duties, and the insured, as required, relies upon the insurer to the insured's detriment, then the insurer should not be able to deny the coverage which it earlier acknowledged. [Emphasis supplied]

At least since <u>Cigarette Racing Team</u> the law of Florida on coverage by estoppel has been known to be based on a factual predicate that the conduct of the insurer during the pre-suit investigation portion of its defense of its insured is a part of determining whether the insurer's conduct rises to the level of having established a claim of estoppel. This predicate was further explained and confirmed by this Court's decision in <u>Doe</u>. The decision below in the present case is not an extension of either <u>Cigarette Racing Team</u> or <u>Doe</u> but, rather, is an application of the principles long ago established in those cases to the particular facts presented here.

FMIT's argument that this Court should exercise jurisdiction in this case to determine "the issue of what constitutes the prejudice which must be shown by one seeking to create coverage by estoppel" (Pet. Br.19) should also be rejected by this Court. First, contrary to FMIT's assertion, this issue is not related to the certified question and was not presented to the Fourth District in the manner and context in which it is sought to be presented to this Court. For this reason alone, the Court should decline to hear this issue. See e.g. <u>Crocker v. Pleasant</u>, 778 So.2d 978, 990 (Fla. 2001).

Moreover, the issue of prejudice is a factual determination to be made by the finder of fact based on the evidence presented in each particular case. See <u>Cigarette Racing Team, Inc. v. Parliament</u> <u>Insurance Co., supra</u> at 1240; see also <u>Tucker v. Seward</u>, 400 So.2d 505 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); <u>Kaplan v. Phoenix of Hartford Co.</u>, 215 So.2d 893 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968). To ask this Court to define the type of prejudice that would need to be established to support a claim of estoppel is, aside from asking this Court to do the impossible given the myriad of factual situations which may occur, to ask this Court to usurp the role of the jury or judge as factfinder.

For the reasons set forth above, as further supported by the arguments below, VOG respectfully submits that this Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction over the present case.

<u>ISSUE II</u>

THERE EXISTS NO BASIS IN LAW OR FACT, ESPECIALLY IN THE FACTS OF THE PRESENT CASE, TO PRECLUDE THE APPLICATION OF THE DOCTRINE OF ESTOPPEL TO AN

INSURER'S PRE-COMPLAINT CONDUCT WHERE THE ELEMENTS OF ESTOPPEL ARE PLEAD AND PROVED.

FMIT asks this Court to create a formulaic rule which would preclude the application of the doctrine of estoppel, as set forth in <u>Cigarette Racing Team</u> and <u>Doe</u>, where some or all of the insurer's egregious conduct, which would otherwise satisfy all of the elements of the doctrine of estoppel, occurred prior to the institution of a formal lawsuit against the insured. In other words, FMIT argues that in *all cases*, no matter how wrongful or egregious the conduct of the insurer is, no matter how reasonable the insured's reliance on the insurer is, and no matter how prejudiced the insured is by the insurer's egregious conduct, as long as that conduct occurred before the formal filing of a lawsuit, the insured cannot avail itself of the doctrine of estoppel to obtain relief for the damaged caused by the insurer's conduct. There is no support in either law or policy to support this argument.

Contrary to FMIT's assertion (Pet. Br. 23) this Court did not, in <u>Doe</u>, limit its finding that an insurer may be estopped from raising the defense of non-coverage only in those circumstances where the insurer did not assume sole control of the matter until a lawsuit was filed. To the contrary, in upholding the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Cigarette Racing Team</u>, and in its own language in <u>Doe</u> describing what the defense of a claim entails, this Court made abundantly clear that where the facts establish all of the elements of the doctrine of estoppel, there is no talismanic point in time, or single event, which determines whether or not the doctrine, otherwise proven, will be applied. Nor, as a matter of policy, is there any basis or justification for the drawing of such an artificial line.

Generally, estoppel arises when a party, through its voluntary conduct, lulls

another party into a disadvantageous legal position because the latter party, in good faith, relies upon the first party's conduct and has been lead to change its position for the worse. See e.g. <u>Major League Baseball v. Morsani</u>, 790 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 2001). To demonstrate estoppel, it must be shown that there was a representation of a material fact that is contrary to a later-asserted position, that there is a reliance on that representation and that a change in position detrimental to the party claiming estoppel is caused by the representation and the reliance on it. See e.g. <u>Department of Revenue v. Anderson</u>, 403 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1981); <u>Fla. Dept. of Transportation v.</u> <u>Dardashti Properties</u>, 605 So.2d 120 (Fla 4th DCA 1992); <u>Zurstrassen v. Stonier</u>, 786 So.2d 65 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). In none of the cases cited, nor in any authorities discovered by VOG's counsel, has there been found to be an arbitrary or formulaic rule established that would preclude the application of the estoppel doctrine when all of its elements have otherwise been established. Yet, this is precisely what FMIT asks this Court to create in the context of insurance contracts.

The facts of this case demonstrate the fallacy of FMIT's position. Contrary to FMIT's assertions (Pet. Br. 24, 28), the jury's and the Fourth District's application of the estoppel doctrine in the present case was not based solely on what FMIT refers to as an "inadequate pretrial investigation." In truth, if FMIT's conduct in the present case cannot, as a matter of law, be viewed as establishing an estoppel, then the doctrine of estoppel must be deemed totally inapplicable to insurance contracts. There is no legal basis for treating insurance contracts differently than any other contract or legal relationship between parties.

VOG will not repeat all of the facts supporting the findings of estoppel as they are thoroughly set forth in the statement of the case and the facts. It suffices to say that from immediately after the incident, FMIT took complete control of the case, took the unusual step of immediately hiring an attorney, specifically informed VOG that the claims were covered claims, paid several claims, assigned an inexperienced adjuster to the case, failed to preserve witness statements or physical evidence in circumstances where quick action was necessary to preclude unwarranted or manufactured claims, refused its own representatives' requests and recommendations to retain experts to rebut any claims of loss and failed to give its insured, VOG any notice of even a potential refusal of coverage until *after* the lawsuit was filed over thirteen (13) months *after* its assumption of total control for the responsibility of protecting VOG against claims arising out of the chlorine gas incident.

These facts go far beyond a mere "inadequate pre-suit investigation." What occurred to VOG here, due to the conduct of FMIT, is not only what the law is intended to prevent, but what FMIT's own internal policy and procedural manuals seek to prevent in terms which are particularly relevant to the issues presented here.

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